
Atty. No. 41106
IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS

COUNTY DEPARTMENT, CHANCERY DIVISION

PATRICK M. KELLER, )
on behalf of Plaintiff and the )
class members described herein, )

)
Plaintiff, )

)
vs. )

)
DNF ASSOCIATES LLC, and )
ADVANCED CAPITAL )
SOLUTIONS INC., )

)
Defendants. )

COMPLAINT – CLASS ACTION 

INTRODUCTION

1. Plaintiff Patrick M. Keller brings this action to secure redress regarding unlawful 

collection practices engaged in by Defendants DNF Associates LLC and Advanced Capital

Solutions, Inc. Plaintiff alleges violation of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. §1692 et

seq. (“FDCPA”).

2. The FDCPA broadly prohibits unfair or unconscionable collection methods, conduct

which harasses or abuses any debtor, and the use of any false or deceptive statements in connection with

debt collection attempts. It also requires debt collectors to give debtors certain information. 15 U.S.C.

§§1692d, 1692e, 1692f and 1692g.

3. In enacting the FDCPA, Congress found that: “[t]here is abundant evidence of the use of

abusive, deceptive, and unfair debt collection practices by many debt collectors. Abusive debt collection

practices contribute to the number of personal bankruptcies, to marital instability, to the loss of jobs, and

to invasions of individual privacy.” 15 U.S.C. §1692(a).

4. Because of this, courts have held that “the FDCPA's legislative intent emphasizes the need
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to construe the statute broadly, so that we may protect consumers against debt collectors' harassing

conduct.” and that “[t]his intent cannot be underestimated.” Ramirez v. Apex Financial Management LLC,

567 F.Supp.2d 1035, 1042 (N.D.Ill. 2008).

5. The FDCPA encourages consumers to act as "private attorneys general" to enforce the

public policies and protect the civil rights expressed therein. Crabill v. Trans Union, LLC, 259 F.3d 662, 666

(7th Cir. 2001).

6. Plaintiff seeks to enforce those policies and civil rights which are expressed through the

FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §1692 et seq.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

7. Jurisdiction of this Court arises under 15 U.S.C. §1692k(d).

8. Personal jurisdiction in Illinois is proper because Defendants sent collection

communications into Illinois.

9. Venue in this county is proper because Defendants do or transact business here.

PARTIES

10. Plaintiff Patrick M. Keller is a resident of McHenry, Illinois.

11. Defendant DNF Associates LLC is a limited liability company organized under

Delaware law with principal offices at 2351 North Forest Road, Suite 110, Getzville, NY 14068. It does

business in Illinois. Its registered agent and office is Cogency Global Inc., 600 South Second St, Suite

404, Springfield, IL 62704-2542.

12. Defendant DNF Associates LLC is engaged in the sole or principal business of a debt

buyer. It claims to acquire consumer debts and has them collected through lawsuits and dunning

consumers, using the mails and telephone system for that purpose.

13. DNF has filed over 1,500 lawsuits in Cook County Circuit Court.

14. Upon information and belief, almost all of Defendant DNF Associates LLC’s

resources are devoted to debt collection.

15. Upon information and belief, almost all of Defendant DNF Associates LLC’s
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revenue is derived from debt collection.

16. Upon information and belief, almost all of Defendant DNF Associates LLC’s

expenses are related to debt collection.

17. Defendant DNF Associates LLC is a debt collector as defined by the FDCPA, 15

U.S.C. §1692a(6), as a person who uses one or more instrumentalities of interstate commerce or the

mails in any business the principal purpose of which is the collection of any debts. 

18. Defendant Advanced Capital Solutions, Inc., is a corporation with a place of

business is 555 Market Ave. N, Canton, OH 44270.  

19. Defendant Advanced Capital Solutions, Inc. is engaged in the sole or principal

business of a collection agency, dunning consumers to collect consumer debts, and using the mails

and telephone system for that purpose.

20. Upon information and belief, almost all of Defendant Advanced Capital

Solutions, Inc.’s resources are devoted to debt collection.

21. Upon information and belief, almost all of Defendant Advanced Capital

Solutions, Inc.’s revenue is derived from debt collection.

22. Upon information and belief, almost all of Defendant Advanced Capital

Solutions, Inc.’s expenses are related to debt collection.

23. Defendant Advanced Capital Solutions, Inc. is a debt collector as defined by the

FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §1692a(6), as a person who uses one or more instrumentalities of interstate

commerce or the mails in any business the principal purpose of which is the collection of any debts. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

24. DNF Associates LLC and Advanced Capital Solutions, Inc., are attempting to

collect from Plaintiff a debt it describes as a Celtic Bank/ Indigo Mastercard.

25. Any such debt would have been incurred for personal, family or household

purposes and not for business purposes.

26. Any such debt would have gone into default years ago.
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27. On September 22, 2022, Plaintiff, by counsel, sent DNF the letter attached as

Exhibit A, seeking verification of the alleged debt and informing DNF that Plaintiff was represented

by counsel.

28. The letter was received September 26, 2022.

29. DNF did not respond.

30. Instead, DNF hired Advanced Capital Solutions to collect the debt.

31. Advanced Capital Solutions, Inc., was hired and acted as the agent of DNF.

32. Advanced Capital Solutions, Inc., was authorized to send communications on

behalf of DNF, to negotiate settlements on behalf of DNF, and to receive money on behalf of

DNF.

33. On December 11, 2023, Advanced Capital Solutions sent Plaintiff, directly, the

email attached as Exhibit B, seeking to collect the debt.

34. Exhibit B is a standard form.

35. Exhibit B states that “you can still bring your account back to good standing by

scheduling a payment for a later date.”

36. Exhibit B suggests that the account is slightly overdue, by stating that “It appears

that payment for your Celtic Bank/ Indigo MasterCard account has not been received. Your account

is past due. . . .”

37. A credit card that is allegedly in the hands of a debt buyer such as DNF and has

been in default for years cannot be brought “back to good standing.”

38. The phrase “back to good standing” conveys to the unsophisticated consumer that

the account can again be used.

39. Many creditors will offer, with respect to accounts that are recently overdue, that

card privileges can be restored by bringing the account current.

40. Exhibit B is contrived to resemble such an offer.

41. In fact, DNF does not extend credit and the account cannot be brought “back to
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good standing.”

COUNT I – FDCPA – CLASS CLAIM

42. Plaintiff incorporates paragraphs 1-41.

43. Exhibit B is false and misleading insofar as it suggests that the account can be

brought “back to good standing,” when it cannot be.

44. Exhibit B violates 15 U.S.C. §§1692e, 1692e(2) and 1692e(10).

45. Section 1692e provides:

A debt collector may not use any false, deceptive, or misleading representation or means in
connection with the collection of any debt. Without limiting the general application of the
foregoing, the following conduct is a violation of this section: . . . 

(2) The false representation of—

(A) the character, amount, or legal status of any debt; . . .

(10) The use of any false representation or deceptive means to collect or attempt to collect
any debt or to obtain information concerning a consumer. . . 

CLASS ALLEGATIONS

46. Plaintiff brings this claim on behalf of a class and subclass.

47. The class consists of (a) all individuals with Illinois addresses, as shown by

Defendants’ records, (b) to whom Advanced Capital Solutions sent a communication stating that an

account can be brought “back to good standing” (c) which communication was sent at any time

during a period beginning one year prior to the filing of this action and ending 20 days after the filing

of this action.  

48. The subclass consists of class members whose debts are allegedly owned by DNF.

49. Plaintiff may alter the class definitions to conform to developments in the case and

discovery.

50. On information and belief, based on the use of form communications, the class and

subclass each have more than 40 members, and are so numerous that joinder of all members is not

practicable.

51. There are questions of law and fact common to the class members, which common 
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questions predominate over any questions relating to individual class members. The predominant

common questions are:

a. Whether Exhibit B is misleading;

b. Whether Exhibit B violates the FDCPA;

c. The liability of DNF for the conduct complained of.

52. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately represent the class members. Plaintiff has retained

counsel experienced in class actions and FDCPA litigation. Plaintiff’s claim is typical of the claims of

the class members. All are based on the same factual and legal theories.

53. A class action is appropriate for the fair and efficient adjudication of this matter, in

that:

a. Individual actions are not economically feasible.

b. Members of the class are likely to be unaware of their rights;

c. Congress intended class actions to be the principal enforcement mechanism

under the FDCPA.

WHEREFORE, the Court should enter judgment in favor of Plaintiff and the class members

and against Defendants for:

i. Statutory damages;

ii. Attorney’s fees, litigation expenses and costs of suit;

iii. Such other and further relief as the Court deems proper.

COUNT II – FDCPA – INDIVIDUAL CLAIM

54. Plaintiff incorporates paragraphs 1-33.

55. DNF violated 15 U.S.C. §1692c by having Advanced Capital Solutions contact a

represented consumer directly.

56. Section 1692c provides:

§ 1692c. Communication in connection with debt collection 

(a) Communication with the consumer generally. Without the prior consent of
the consumer given directly to the debt collector or the express permission of a
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court of competent jurisdiction, a debt collector may not communicate with a
consumer in connection with the collection of any debt–

. . .    (2) if the debt collector knows the consumer is represented by an
attorney with respect to such debt and has knowledge of, or can readily
ascertain, such attorney's name and address, unless the attorney fails to
respond within a reasonable period of time to a communication from
the debt collector or unless the attorney consents to direct
communication with the consumer; . . . 

WHEREFORE, the Court should enter judgment in favor of Plaintiff and against Defendant

DNF for:

i. Statutory damages;

ii. Attorney’s fees, litigation expenses and costs of suit;

iii. Such other and further relief as the Court deems proper.

/s/ Daniel A. Edelman
Daniel A. Edelman

Daniel A. Edelman
Dulijaza (Julie) Clark
EDELMAN, COMBS, LATTURNER & GOODWIN, LLC
20 South Clark Street, Suite 1500
Chicago, IL 60603-1824
(312) 739-4200
(312) 419-0379 (FAX) 
Email address for service: courtecl@edcombs.com
Atty. No. 41106 (Cook)
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NOTICE OF LIEN AND ASSIGNMENT

Please be advised that we claim a lien upon any recovery herein for 1/3 or such amount as a
court awards. All rights relating to attorney’s fees have been assigned to counsel.

/s/ Daniel A. Edelman
Daniel A. Edelman

Daniel A. Edelman
EDELMAN, COMBS, LATTURNER

& GOODWIN, LLC
20 S. Clark Street, Suite 1500
Chicago, Illinois 60603
(312) 739-4200
(312) 419-0379 (FAX)
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EXHIBIT A 
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EXHIBIT B 
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